$See \ discussions, stats, and author \ profiles \ for \ this \ publication \ at: \ https://www.researchgate.net/publication/288663813$

Potential biological activity of acacia honey

Article in Frontiers in bioscience (Elite edition) · December 2015



EFFECTS OF COMBINED ADMINISTRATION OF RED PALM OIL (ELAESIS GUINEENSIS) AND AQUEOUS EXTRACT OF ROSELLE (HIBISCUS SABDARIFFA) CALYX ON HEPATIC AND

Some of the authors of this publication are also working on these related projects:

Project

RENAL FUNCTIONS OF T. brucei brucei INFECTED RATS View project

research group View project

Potential biological activity of acacia honey

Aliyu Muhammad¹, Oyeronke A. Odunola², Mohammed A. Ibrahim¹, Abdullahi B. Sallau¹, Ochuko L. Erukainure³, Idowu A. Aimola¹, Ibrahim Malami⁴

¹Department of Biochemistry, Ahmadu Bello University, Zaria, Kaduna State, Nigeria, ²Cancer Research and Molecular Biology Laboratories, Department of Biochemistry, University of Ibadan, Ibadan, Oyo State, Nigeria, ³Department of Food Technology, Federal Institute of Industrial Research, Oshodi, Nigeria, ⁴Department of Pharmacognosy and Ethnopharmacy, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Usmanu Danfodiyo University, Sokoto

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Purity and quality
- 4. Floral identification
- 5. Antioxidant and immuno-modulatory potential
- 6. Antiproliferative effects
- 7. Neurological roles
- 8. Other biological effects
- 9. Bioactive compounds
- 10. Conclusion
- 11. Future research
- 12. Acknowledgement
- 13. References

1. ABSTRACT

Recent advances in functional foods-based research have increasingly become an area of major interest because it affects human health and activities. Functional foods are classes of foods with health promoting and disease preventing properties in addition to multiple nutritional values and of such type is honey. Acacia honey is a type of honey produced by bees (Apis mellifera) fed on Acacia flowers, hence the name. This review focuses on the potential biological activities of Acacia honey which includes quality, antioxidant, immuno-modulatory, antiproliferative and neurological properties at in vitro and in vivo levels. Based on our review, Acacia honey used from various researches is of high purity, contains some bioactive compounds ranging from vitamins, phenolics, flavonoids and fatty acids. It's highly nutritional with strong antioxidant and immunomodulatory potentials which may therefore be considered a potential candidate for both cancer prevention and treatment. Neurologically, it may be considered as a viable therapeutic agent in the management of Alzheimer's disease.

2. INTRODUCTION

Functional foods are well characterized by their natural properties of health promotion, and disease prevention in addition to numerous nutritional values (1). One of the most consumed functional food is honey which has been defined as a natural product produced by honeybees via a regurgitation mechanism of the plant parts (2). Documented biological activities of honey includes antioxidant, immuno-modulatory, cancer prophylactic and curative properties (3). In addition, experimental evidence indicates that honey from variety of floral and geographical sources like Manuka, Saudi sidr, Toulang, Chestnut, Rhododendron, Pasture, Jelly bush, Blossom, Sage and Neem could exert several health-beneficial effects which includes gastroprotective, reproductive. hepatoprotective, hypoglycemic, antioxidant, antihypertensive, antibacterial, anti-fungal and anti-inflammatory effects (4). This is because substances produced by honey bees (Apis mellifera), including propolis, honey, wax and venom have been used for their medicinal properties throughout history (5). Furthermore, antioxidant and other bioactive compounds are biosynthesized by a large number of plants that may be used by honeybees to collect nectar which consequently transfer a wide variety of phytochemicals to honey that are of biological importance to the ultimate consumers (4). Acacia is a genus of shrubs and trees belonging to the subfamily Mimosoideae of the family Fabaceae. Acacia honey is a type of honey produced by bees fed on Acacia flowers, hence the name.

The global prevalence of chronic diseases such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension, atherosclerosis,

Parameters	Amount	Standard amount (imposed limit)	References		
Water content (g/100g)	18.3.9	NA	(6)		
Electrical conductivity (mS/cm)	0.1.8	0.0.6-2.1.7	(6)		
pН	4.0.7	3.5.0-5.5.0	(6), (9)		
Total acidity (meq/kg)	16.6.5	Up to 50.0.0	(6), (8)		
Fructose (g/100g)	43.5.1	NA	(6)		
Glucose (g/100g)	29.6.8	NA	(6)		
F/G ratio	1.5.7	Up to 1.6.4	(6)		
F+G content (g/100g)	72.5.7	Up to 92	(9)		
Maltose (g/100g)	3.0.8	NA	(6)		
Sucrose (g/100g)	2.5.0	≤5.0.0	(6), (8)		
Diatase activity (units/g of honey)	2.7.0	>8.0.0	(7), (8)		
Hydroxymethylfurfural (mg/100g)	0.4.4	>15.0.0	(7), (8)		
NA: Not available in the literature, F: Fructose, G: Glucose					

Table 1. The physico-chemical properties of Acacia honey

cancer and Alzheimer's disease is on the currently rise. As a result of the participation of oxidative processes in the onset and development of degenerative diseases, much attention has been paid to the antioxidant properties of foods rich in polyphenols and other biologically important metabolites. At present, there are numerous experimental reports on the different biological activities of Acacia honey. However, a comprehensive review that collates all these experimental evidences, critically appraise the achievements documented so far as well as provide future research directions is lacking in the current literature. Therefore, this review will provide a critical appraisal on the available experimental data from in vitro and in vivo studies with respect to the biological activities of Acacia honey as functional food and a potential source of neutraceuticals.

3. PURITY AND QUALITY

Quality of honey depends on the plant source, the chemical composition of these plants as well as on the climatic conditions and soil mineral composition (6). Basically, Acacia honey is very pale like liquid glass. It has a mild, sweet, floral flavour, and is therefore, one of the most popular honey varieties. It is a good choice for mixing with beverages because it sweetens without changing the taste of the drink. It is also an excellent choice for cooking because of its mild flavour and because it mixes easily in liquids and batters. It has hints of vanilla flavour and no aftertaste. Acacia honey is slow to crystallize because it can remain in a liquid state for a long period of time due to its high concentration of fructose (7), (6). However, some experimental variables have also been identified and currently being explored (Table 1) in the determination of purity and quality of honey for commercial and

research purposes. These include the sugar contents, pH, diastase activity, hydroxylmethylfurfural level, water activity, moisture contents, free acidity, electrical conductivity and microbial contamination (8)(9). Most of the aforementioned indices have been analyzed and reported in Acacia honey, all of which fall within the accepted limits (7), (6), which pave way for the frequent utilization of Acacia honey in biological research and commercial applications.

4. FLORAL IDENTIFICATION

The variability of honey types produced in a region depends upon the diversity of nectar sources present in the region (10). Microscopic analysis and other advanced techniques (11), (8,12,13) are currently being used for the analysis of the pollen in honey which may eventually determine its geographical origin. In addition, the pollen grain analysis of honey may provide information about the possible biological activity in terms of its prophylactic and therapeutic potential as the original residing plant may contain some certain phytochemicals. Using these procedures, the pollen grains from Acacia flower were largely identified in Acacia honey (2,14,15), hence the continuous usage of the terminology. However, other methods are also currently explored in addition to microscopic techniques (melissopalynology) to further validate the authenticity of floral sources (mono or polyfloral) which includes Near-Infrared spectroscopy, gas chromatography-mass spectrometry, amino acids and mineral analyses (9,11,16–19). Overall, the combination of these techniques will go a long way in improving the quality of honey not only on commercial basis but also generating unbiased and desirable outcomes with regards to scientific researches comprising in vitro and in vivo experiments.

Biological activities	Description of effects	References
Antioxidant	Suppression of ROS generation	(35), (15)
Mitogenic	Stimulation of lymphocytes proliferation	(21)
Immuno-modulatory	Regulating TNF- α , IL-1 β and lymphocytes levels	(21), (14)
Antiproliferative	Cytotoxic and anticancer properties	(2), (14).
Neurological	Inhibition of acetylcholinesterase activity	(30)
Hepatoprotective	Down regulating the serum aminotransferases level	(7,32)
Nephroprotective	Down regulating the serum urea and creatinine levels	(7,32)
Haematological	Boosting of haemoglobin, RBC and WBC levels	(7,32)
Wound healing	Increased tissue granulation and collagen formation	(33,34)

Table 2. The biological activities of Acacia honey

5. ANTIOXIDANT AND IMMUNO-MODULATORY POTENTIAL

The in vitro antioxidant properties of natural or synthetic agents are measured in the form of antiradical activity using the 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) scavenging assay, oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC) assay and ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) assay (4,20). Other advanced protocols like luminol and lucigenin-amplified chemiluminescence assays are currently being explored in the study of an in vitro antioxidant activity of Acacia honey (21). Studies (Table 2) have demonstrated the antioxidant, mitogenic and immuno-modulatory properties of Acacia honey. A dose-dependent inhibition of the intensity of luminol and lucigenin-amplified chemiluminescence was observed with exceptional IC_{50} values for whole blood, neutrophils and macrophages (21). Furthermore, Acacia honey was also found to possess a significant dose dependent inhibition of DPPH and superoxide anion radicals. The reducing power of honey was also found to proportionally increase with concentration. The foregoing in vitro data suggests that Acacia honey is endowed with potent anti-oxidative agents. On the other hand, Acacia honey was also reported to possess immuno-modulatory potential by increasing peripheral blood lymphocytes, mitotic index, and nuclear division and cytokinesis-block proliferation indices whereas cytotoxicity index was decreased by the honey (Table 2). Furthermore, research findings also indicate that Acacia honey was not able to induce chromosomal damage in lymphocytes suggesting a immune protective role of honey which may be due to the potent antioxidant activity observed (21). Mitotic index measures the proportion of cells in the M-phase of the cell cycle and its inhibition could be considered as cellular death or delay in the cell proliferation kinetics (22). The mitotic index used to characterize the proliferating cells and to identify compounds that inhibit or induce mitotic progression depends on the proportion of the cell population that participates in the whole cycle of interphase leading to division and the relative lengths

of interphase with recognizable mitotic stages (23). Lymphoid cells from organisms can be stimulated *in vitro* to synthesize DNA and undergo blastogenic transformation upon exposure to mitogens (24), and this might explain further the immuno-modulatory role of Acacia honey because of the reported induction of lymphocytes proliferation (Figure 1).

Studies (Table 2) using animal models indicate that honey, like other antioxidant agents, does protect against damage which is partly mediated via amelioration of oxidative stress in various cells and viscera (4). A study reported that sodium arsenite significantly suppresses the GSH level, SOD and catalase activities with simultaneous induction of lipid peroxidation and clastogenic effects whilst Acacia honey was able to increase the sodium arsenite-induced rise in GSH level, SOD and catalase activities with concomitant anti-clastogenic effects due to reduction in micronuclei which demonstrates that Acacia honey mitigates sodium arsenite induced-oxidative stress and clastogenicity in rats via an anti-oxidant dependent mechanism (15).

6. ANTIPROLIFERATIVE EFFECTS

Cancer, an abnormal cell growth characterized by high proliferative potential is a leading cause of death worldwide and its development is frequently associated with DNA damage, aneuploidy, and nonrandom chromosome aberrations all of which can result from exposure to environmental chemicals/genetic alterations (14,25,26). Cancer chemoprevention has been defined as the administration of agents to prevent induction or to delay the progression of cancer (25), or as the reversal of carcinogenesis at a premalignant stage (27). Interestingly, honey has gained vitality in this area since it is rich in phenolic compounds and other antioxidants like ascorbic acid, amino acids, and proteins. Some simple and polyphenols found in honey, namely, caffeic acid, caffeic acid phenyl esters, chrysin, galangin, quercetin, kaempferol, acacetin, pinocembrin,



Figure 1. Summary of the biological activities of Acacia honey.

pinobanksin and apigenin, have evolved as promising pharmacological agents in treatment of cancer (4,25). The 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay, trypan blue exclusion test, cell cycle, flow cytometry, gene expression analysis by conventional and real time polymerase chain reactions have been utilized as viable tools to underscore the antiproliferative effects of Acacia honey (Table 2). It was reported that Acacia honey was able to induce an antiproliferative effect on melanoma cells in a dose and time-dependent manner. Flow cytometry analysis indicated that cytotoxicity induced by honey was mediated by G₀/G₁ cell cycle arrest and induction of hyperploids progression (2). Other findings showed the anti-proliferative effects of Acacia honey on NIH/3T3 and PC-3 cell lines with exceptional IC_{50} values and simultaneous increase in the secretion of calcium ion and down regulation of prostate specific antigen. Moreover, a significant dose-dependent modulation of G_0/G_1 phase was observed as compared with the control. There was also an inverse relationship between TNF- α and IL-1 β with latter being up regulated. Mitotic index of PC-3 cells inversely varies with the honey concentration (28). Based on these findings, it was proposed (Figure 1) that apoptotic role of Acacia honey on PC-3 cell line may be due to modulation of G_0/G_1 phase, pro-inflammatory cytokines, calcium ions secretion and down regulation of prostate specific antigen in vitro. Furthermore, Acacia

honey was reported to inhibit cells proliferation, arrested G_0/G_1 phase, stimulated cytokines, calcium ion release as well as suppressed p53 and bcl-2 expressions in NCI-H460 cells (14). Overall, Acacia honey may therefore be considered a potential candidate for both cancer prevention and treatment (Figure 1).

7. NEUROLOGICAL ROLES

Honey polyphenols were found to be useful in improving memory deficits and can act at the molecular level by involving in apoptotic activities while attenuating microglia-induced neuroinflammation (29). Thus, honey might reduce the risk of some neurodegenerative diseases like Alzheimer's disease (29,30). It was reported (Table 2) that Acacia honey significantly decreased acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity in the brain which was potentiated in the presence of sodium arsenite. Furthermore, strong correlation was observed between the sodium and calcium ion levels with acetylcholinesterase activity in the brain and the findings suggest that Acacia honey modulates acetylcholinesterase activities which may be explored in the management of Alzheimer's diseases (30). High activities of AChE in the brain have been implicated in the pathogenesis of the disease and its inhibition is considered as a viable therapeutic strategy in the management of the disease (31).

Table 3.	The bioactive	compounds	of Acacia	honey
----------	---------------	-----------	-----------	-------

Bioactive compounds	References
Vitamins (A, C and E)	(30)
p-hydroxybenzoic acid	(6,30)
Cinnamic acid	(6,30)
9-octadecanoic acid-2-hydroxy-1-(hydroxymethyl) ethyl ester	(6,30)
Chrysin	(6,30)
2-hydroxypentadecanone	(6,30)
Hydrofol acid	(6,30)
1, 6-anhydro-beta-D-glucofuranose	(6,30)
5-hydroxymethylfurfural	(6,30)
Pyrazol-3-one	(6,30)
Pinobanksin	(6,30)
Apigenin	(6,30)
Pinocembrin	(6,30)
Acacetin	(6,30)
Abscisic acid	(6,30)
Ferullic acid	(6,30)
2, 4-dihydroxy-5-methylpyrimidine	(6,30)
Amino acids (arginine, aspartic acid, cystein, glutamic acid and proline)	(17)

8. OTHER BIOLOGICAL EFFECTS

Other effects of Acacia honey reported (Table 2) include hepatoprotective by decreasing the level of serum aminotransferases and maintaining the integrity of hepatocytes, and nephroprotective by decreasing the level of serum urea and creatinine as well as boosting of haematological parameters (white blood cells, red blood cells e.t.c.) corroborating its role as functional food (7.32). A study was also conducted to assess the wound-healing activity of Acacia honey using incision, excision, burn and dead-space wound models in rats. Different formulations of honey were used and rats were treated topically as well as orally in which both the higher and lower doses of honev produced a significant effect on healing. The area of epithelisation was found to increase, followed by an increase in wound contraction, skin-breaking strength, and tissue granulation. The hydroxyproline content also increased in the rats treated with higher doses of honey compared to control, indicating an increase in collagen formation (33). Furthermore, a wound healing ability of Acacia honey was also reported in which corneal keratocytes cultured in media supplemented with 0.0.25% Acacia honey showed an increase in proliferative capacity while retaining their morphology, gene and protein expressions with normal cell cycle after incubation in Dispase solution confirming its promising

role in accelerating the initial stage of corneal wound healing (33,34).

9. BIOACTIVE COMPOUNDS

Acacia honey has been fully characterized (Table 3), and the bioactive compounds which include vitamins, phenolics, flavonoids and fatty acids. The vitamins identified so far are vitamin A, C and E (30). p-hydroxybenzoic acid, cinnamic acid, 9-octadecanoic acid-2-hydroxy-1-(hydroxymethyl) ethyl ester and flavonoids like chrysin have been identified. Others include 2-hydroxypentadecanone, hydrofol acid, 1, 6-anhydrobeta-D-glucofuranose, 5-hydroxymethylfurfural, pyrazol-3one, pinobanksin, apigenin, pinocembrin, acacetin, abscisic acid, ferullic acid and 2, 4-dihydroxy-5-methylpyrimidine were also determined (6,35). Furthermore, some amino acids of physiological significance were also reported in Acacia honey which include arginine, aspartic acid, cystein, glutamic acid and proline (17). The presence of these compounds may go a long way in further underscoring the potential biological activity of Acacia honey. This is because most of them have been analyzed and reported in literature to possess strong biological activities (4,20).

10. CONCLUSION

Acacia honey used from various researches is of high quality by virtue of the applied melissopalynology. It's highly nutritional with strong antioxidant and immunomodulatory potentials which may therefore be considered a potential candidate for both cancer prevention and treatment. Neurologically, it may be considered as a viable therapeutic agent in the management of Alzheimer's disease.

11. FUTURE RESEARCH

The role of Acacia honey in cancer epigenetics needs to be investigated and further studies are needed to validate the contribution of Acacia honey in tumor therapy *in vivo*. Its role in the management of Alzheimer's disease using the real experimental models both at cellular and molecular levels should be conducted for further validations. The correlation between its physicochemical and antimicrobial properties should also be looked into. Furthermore, its toxicology effect needs to be fully investigated at the molecular level.

12. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We would like to appreciate and thank for the suggestions and contributions of Mrs. Salamatu S. Aliyu towards improving quality of the write-up.

13. REFERENCES

1. A Muhammad, O A Odunola, A D Farooq, A M Mesaik, M I Choudhary, O L Erukainure, S

Perveen, A Jabeen: Fractionation of acacia honey affects its antioxidant potential *in vitro*, *J Acute Dis*, 1(2), 115–119, (2012) DOI: 10.1016/S2221-6189(13)60027-X

- E Pichichero, R Cicconi, M Mattei, M G Muzi, A Canini: Acacia honey and chrysin reduce proliferation of melanoma cells through alterations in cell cycle progression, *Int J of oncol*, 973–981, (2010)
- MAI-yahya, R Mothana, MAI-said, MAI-dosari, N AI-musayeib, M AI-sohaibani, M K Parvez, S Rafatullah: Attenuation of CCI 4 -Induced Oxidative Stress and Hepatonephrotoxicity by Saudi Sidr Honey in Rats, *Evidence-based Complement Altern Med*, 2013, 10, (2013) DOI: 10.1155/2013/569037
- O O Erejuwa, S A Sulaiman, M S A Wahab: Honey: A Novel Antioxidant, *Molecules*, 17, 4400–4423, (2012) DOI: 10.3390/molecules17044400
- R Carnwath, E M Graham, K Reynolds, P J Pollock: The antimicrobial activity of honey against common equine wound bacterial isolates, *Vet J*, 199(1), 110–114, (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2013.07.003
- L A Marghitas, D S Dezmirean, C B Pocol, M Ilea, O Bobis, I Gergen: The Development of a Biochemical Profile of Acacia Honey by Identifying Biochemical Determinants of its Quality, Not Bot Horti Agrobot Cluj-Napoca, 38(2), 84–90, 2010
- A Muhammad, O A Odunola, S E Owumi, M A Gbadegesin, A D Farooq, H Rasheed, M I Choudhary, O L Erukainure: Daily Consumption of Honey: Effects on Male Wister Albino Rats, *Food Nutr Saf*, 1(2), 66–74, (2012)
- S Gomes, L G Dias, L L Moreira, P Rodrigues, L Estevinho: Physicochemical, microbiological and antimicrobial properties of commercial honeys from Portugal, *Food Chem Toxicol*, 48(2), 544–548, (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.phytochem.2009.12.018
- 9. K Ruoff: Authentication of the Botanical Origin of Honey *Report, DISS ETH NO 16857,* 1-13, (2006)
- S Bibi, S Z Husain, R N Malik, S Bibi, E T Al: Pollen Analysis and Heavy Metals Detection in Honey Samples from Seven Selected Countries, *Pak J Bot*, 40(2), 507–516, (2008)

- 11. O Adekanmbi, O Ogundipe: Nectar sources for the honey bee (Apis mellifera adansonii) revealed by pollen content, *Not Bot Horti Agrobot Cluj-Napoca*, 37, 211–217, (2009)
- 12. P M Lutier, B E Vaissière: An improved method for pollen analysis of honey, *Rev of Pal and Paly*, 78 129–144, (1993)
- 13 N T Moar: Pollen analysis of New Zealand honey, *New Zealand J of Agric Res*, 28 39–70, (1985)
 - DOI: 10.1080/00288233.1985.10426997
- A Muhammad, OA Odunola, AD Farooq, H Rasheed, AM Mesaik, M I Choudhary, I S Channa, S A Khan, OL Erukainure: Molecular Mechanism of Antiproliferation Potential of Acacia Honey on NCI-H460 Cell Line, Nutr and Cancer, 65 2, 296-304, (2013) DOI: 10.1080/01635581.2013.756920
- O A Odunola, A Muhammad, A D Farooq, K Dalvandi, H Rasheed, M I Choudhary, L Erukainure: Comparative assessment of redox-sensitive biomarkers due to acacia honey and sodium arsenite administration *in vivo*, *Mediterr J Nutr Metab*, 6(2), 119–126, (2013)

DOI: 10.1007/s12349-013-0127-1

- A Cristina, S Jesús, I Martínez-castro: SPME followed by GC – MS : a powerful technique for qualitative analysis of honey atiles, *Eur Food Res Technol* 228, 579–590, (2009) DOI: 10.1007/s00217-008-0966-z
- 17. S Qamer, M Ehsan, S Nadeem, A R Shakoori: Free Amino Acids Content of Pakistani Unifloral Honey Produced by Apis mellifera, *Pak J Zool*, 39(2), 99–102, (2007)
- T O N Y W Oodcock, G E D Owney, J D A K Elly, C O L M O D Onnell: Geographical Classification of Honey Samples by Near-Infrared Spectroscopy : A Feasibility Study, J Agric Food Chem, 55, 9128–9134, (2007) DOI: 10.1021/jf072010q
- 19. S Bibi, S Z Husain, R N Malik: Pollen analysis and heavy metals detection in honey samples from seven selected countries, *Pakistan J Bot*, 40, 507–516, (2008)
- J Miguel, A S Tulipani, S Romandini, E Bertoli, M Battino: Contribution of honey in nutrition and human health : a review, *Med J Nutrition Metab*, 3, 15–23, (2010) DOI: 10.1007/s12349-009-0051-6

- A Muhammad, O A Odunola, A D Farooq, A M Mesaik, I Muhammad, M Azhar, M M Asif, O L Erukainure: Antioxidant, mitogenic and immunomodulatory potentials of acacia honey, *Nutr Ther Met*, 32(2), 68–78, (2014) DOI: 10.5301/NTM.2014.12285
- D Koshland, A Strunnikov: Mitotic chromosome condensation Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 12, 305–333, (1996)
 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.12.1.305
- 23. H Lis, N Sharon: Lectins: Carbohydrate-Specific Proteins That Mediate Cellular Recognition, *Chem Rev*, 98, 637–674, (1998) DOI: 10.1021/cr940413g
- A Öcal, H E Eroğlu: *In vitro* cytogenetic effects of Hypericum heterophyllum in human peripheral blood lymphocytes, *J Bangaladesh Pharmacol Soc*, 7, 36–41, (2012) DOI: 10.3329/bjp.v7i1.10119
- 25. S K Jaganathan, M Mandal: Antiproliferative Effects of Honey and of Its Polyphenols : A Review Chemistry of Honey, *J Biomed Biotechnol*, 2009, 13, (2009) DOI: 10.1155/2009/830616
- 26. S E Owumi, O A Odunola, M Aliyu: Co-administration of sodium arsenite and ethanol: Protection by aqueous extract of Aframomum longiscapum seeds, *Pharmacognosy Res*, 4(3), 154–60, (2012) DOI: 10.4103/0974-8490.99078
- 27. RLotan: Retinoids in cancer chemoprevention, *FASEB J*, 10(9), 1031–1039, (1996)
- A Muhammad, O A Odunola, A D Farooq, A M Mesaik, M I Choudhary, B Fatima, T A Qureshi: Acacia Honey Modulates Cell Cycle Progression, Pro-inflammatory Cytokines and Calcium Ions Secretion in PC-3 Cell Lines, *cancer Sci Ther*, 4(12), 401–407, (2012)
- 29. M M Rahman, S H Gan, I Khalil: Neurological Effects of Honey: Current and Future Prospects, *Evidence-based Complement Altern Med*, 2014, 13, (2014)
- A Muhammad, O A Odunola, M A Gbadegesin, A B Sallau, U S Ndidi, M A Ibrahim: Inhibitory Effects of Sodium Arsenite and Acacia Honey on Acetylcholinesterase in Rats, *Int J Alzheimer's Dis*, 2015, 7, (2015) DOI: 10.1155/2015/903603
- 31. T D Shear, J A J Martyn: Physiology and biology of neuromuscular transmission in

health and disease, *J Crit Care*, 24, 5–10, (2009)

DOI: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2008.08.002

- 32. S Samat, N A M Nor, F Nor Hussein, W I W Ismail: Effects of Gelam and Acacia honey acute administration on some biochemical parameters of Sprague Dawley rats, *BMC Complement Altern Med*, 14, 1, 146, (2014)
- 33. F Iftikhar, M Arshad, F Rasheed, D Amraiz, P Anwar, M Gulfraz: Effects of Acacia Honey on Wound Healing in Various Rat Models *Phyther Res*, 24, 583–586, (2010)
- 34. C Ker-Woon, N Abd Ghafar, C Kien Hui, Y A Mohd Yusof: Effect of acacia honey on cultured rabbit corneal keratocytes, *BMC Cell Biol*, 15 (1)19, (2014) DOI: 10.1186/1471-2121-15-19
- A Muhammad, OA Odunola, MA Gbadegesin, AM Adegoke, JO Olugbami, NS Uche: Modulatory role of Acacia honey from northwest Nigeria on sodium arsenite-induced clastogenicity and oxidative stress in male Wistar rats, *Nat Prod Res* 29 (4), 321-326, (2014) DOI: 10.1080/14786419.2014.940945

Key Words: Acacia honey, Potentials, *in vitro, in vivo,* Review

Send correspondence to: Aliyu Muhammad, Department of Biochemistry, Ahmadu Bello University, Zaria, Tel: 23470381614130, Fax: 810271, E-mail: amachida31@gmail.com